
ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS MEETING – January 24, 2024 P a g e  | 1 

IN PERSON MEETING 

To Participate: Join Zoom Meeting by Videoconference or Telephone: 
LOGIN OR DIAL: 1 312 626 6799 US 

MEETING ID: 747 569 7662 
PASSCODE: 007386 

 

CALL TO ORDER 

ROLL CALL 

STAFF PRESENT 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

1. Approve December 20, 2023 Zoning Board of Appeals Meeting Minutes. 

PUBLIC COMMENTS 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

NEW BUSINESS 

2. Appoint officers as Chairman, Vice Chair, and Secretary for 2024 Zoning Board of Appeals. 

3. ZBA #24-01, 11280 Hegel Rd. (02-23-200-018) My Brother's Keeper of Genesee County 
Appeal Building Inspectors Letters. 

REPORTS 

4. Township Report 

5. Planning Commission Report 
 

PUBLIC COMMENT 

BOARD COMMENTS 

ADJOURNMENT 

PHYSICALLY CHALLENGED PERSONS NEEDING ASSISTANCE OR AID AT ANY PUBLIC MEETING OR PUBLIC 
HEARING SHOULD CONTACT THE ATLAS TOWNSHIP CLERK AT 810-636-2548 DURING REGULAR OFFICE 
HOURS, NOT LESS THAN SEVENTY-TWO (72) HOURS PRIOR TO THE PUBLIC MEETING OR PUBLIC 

 

  
 ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS MEETING 
 7386 S. GALE ROAD GRAND BLANC, MI 48439 
 WEDNESDAY, JANUARY 24, 2024 AT 6:00 PM 

AGENDA 

1



ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS MEETING – January 24, 2024 P a g e  | 2 

HEARING. 
 

 
 

2



ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS MEETING – December 20, 2023 P a g e  | 1 

IN PERSON MEETING 

To Participate: Join Zoom Meeting by Videoconference or Telephone: 
LOGIN OR DIAL: 1 312 626 6799 US 

MEETING ID: 747 569 7662 
PASSCODE: 007386 

 

CALL TO ORDER 

Chair Berry called the meeting to order at 6:00pm. 

  

ROLL CALL 
PRESENT 
Craig Berry 
J. Michael Rembor 
Ann Marie Moore 
Jim Sweet 
Andrew Holmes (1st Alternate) 

ABSENT 
Joel Mallery 
 
 

STAFF PRESENT 

Lexi Christner, Recording Secretary 

Jim Busch, Deputy Supervisor 

Traci Sasser, ZBA 2nd Alternate 

 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

Motion to approve the agenda as presented. 

Motion made by Moore, Seconded by Sweet. 
Voting Yea:  Berry, Rembor, Moore, Sweet, Holmes 

Motion carries 5-0 

 

 

  
 ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS MEETING 
 7386 S. GALE ROAD GRAND BLANC, MI 48439 
 WEDNESDAY, DECEMBER 20, 2023 AT 6:00 PM 

DRAFT MINUTES 

3

Item 1.



ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS MEETING – December 20, 2023 P a g e  | 2 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

1. Approve March 22, 2023 ZBA Meeting Minutes 

Motion to approve March 22, 2023 ZBA Meeting Minutes as presented. 
Motion made by  Rembor, Seconded by  Sweet. 
Voting Yea:  Berry,  Rembor,  Sweet, Holmes 
Abstain: Moore 

Motion carries 4-0 

PUBLIC COMMENTS 

None.  

NEW BUSINESS 

2. Building Inspector request to clarify the Non-Conforming Uses Ordinance 300.310 (B&C). 

Rembor opened with a short summary of why the ZBA is looking at the Ordinance. The 
question is, if a nonconforming building is adding an addition without exceeding the 
existing non-conformity, does the Building Official have the authority to approve the 
addition, or does the home owner need to apply for a variance with the ZBA.  

A lively discussion took place with the commissioners.  

Berry noted that the building official contacted him and explained that, in the past, if the 
non-conformity did not increase, he would have approved the permit. He now wants 
better clarification on what his authority is to do so. The Ordinance is written with terms 
“use” and “structure” and therefore hard to determine a straight answer.  

Sweet noted, if the building is not increasing the existing non-conformity, then the 
building inspector should have authority to grant the addition permit.  

Holmes added if the structure is grandfathered in within the non-conformity, but not 
increasing with addition, it should be granted.  

Rembor noted an increased non-conformity could occur anywhere on the property, not 
just a front yard set back. If this occurred, would we want a building official to grant an 
addition to a side yard or rear yard with housing or businesses near, without proper 
notice to the surrounding community and opportunity to hear feedback through the ZBA 
process.  

Moore agreed that if the addition to the existing structure does not exceed the current 
non-conformity, the building official should have authority. She also cautioned that every 
case is different and that is why the Zoning Board of Appeals is here. There needs to be 
more clarification on what can be approved by the Building Official. 

Motion to grant the Building Official the authority to approve additions to 
nonconforming structures based on the current ordinance as written. Motion continued 
to request the Planning Commission to review this ordinance "300.310 Non-Conforming 
Uses, Structures, and lots" and amend to clarify what situations the building official 
may be authorized to review and what situations require review and approval of the 
Zoning Board of Appeals.   

4

Item 1.



ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS MEETING – December 20, 2023 P a g e  | 3 

Motion made by  Rembor, Seconded by  Sweet. 
Roll Call Voting Yea:  Berry,  Rembor,  Moore,  Sweet, Holmes 

Motion carries 5-0 

 

REPORTS 

3. Township Report 

Moore reported the Township Board had a meeting this past Monday, a couple 
resolutions passed and welcomed Traci Sasser to the Zoning Board of Appeals as 2nd 
alternate.  

4.    Planning Commission Report 
See attached from Planning Commission Chair Rembor. 

BOARD COMMENTS 

Rembor - Confirmed the request will be on the next Planning Commission agenda. The Planning 
Commission will draft a revised ordinance, send it back to the ZBA for review and comments and 
then hold a public hearing and finalize and send to the Township Board with recommendation for 
adoption.  Rembor also shared a copy of the Atlas Township Board of Trustees Public Comment 
and Conduct Policy for the ZBA to discuss at their next meeting for possible inclusion in their 
bylaws.   

ADJOURNMENT 

Motion to adjourn Zoning Board of Appeals meeting at 6:56pm.  

Motion made by  Moore, Seconded by  Rembor. 
Voting Yea:  Berry,  Rembor,  Moore,  Sweet, Holmes 

Motion carries 5-0 

PHYSICALLY CHALLENGED PERSONS NEEDING ASSISTANCE OR AID AT ANY PUBLIC MEETING OR PUBLIC 
HEARING SHOULD CONTACT THE ATLAS TOWNSHIP CLERK AT 810-636-2548 DURING REGULAR OFFICE 
HOURS, NOT LESS THAN SEVENTY-TWO (72) HOURS PRIOR TO THE PUBLIC MEETING OR PUBLIC 
HEARING. 
 

 

CLERK’S CERTIFICATION 

 I, Katherine Vick, the duly elected, qualified and acting clerk of the Township of Atlas, Genesee 

County, Michigan do herby certify that the foregoing Minutes are a true and accurate accounting of the 

actions of the Atlas Township Zoning Board of Appeals during the regular meeting held on December 20, 

2023  I further certify that the meeting was duly called and held, and that a quorum was present. 

 
     _________________ 
Katherine Vick, MiPMC,      Date 
Atlas Township Clerk 

 

5

Item 1.



6

Item 3.



7

Item 3.



8

Item 3.



9

Item 3.



10

Item 3.



11

Item 3.



12

Item 3.



13

Item 3.



14

Item 3.



15

Item 3.



16

Item 3.



17

Item 3.



18

Item 3.



19

Item 3.



20

Item 3.



21

Item 3.



22

Item 3.



23

Item 3.



24

Item 3.



25

Item 3.



1 
 

 

 

ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

11280 HEGEL ROAD APPEAL OF BUILDING INSPECTOR/ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICIAL 

DATED NOVEMBER 9, 2023 

 

 

INTRODUCTION 

 

On about April, 19, 2023 Debra Hayes, on behalf of the charitable non-profit corporation My 

Brothers Keeper, submitted a purchase agreement to buy 11280 Hegel Road with the intention to 

qualify the property for a Veterans Administration grant that will pay them a daily amount 

(approximately $70.00/day/vet) to house homeless veterans.  After being notified that there were 

outstanding building permit issues created by the previous owner, the Atlas Township Building 

Inspector Matt Hart learned that the intended use was to house up to 10 homeless veterans for up 

to 180 days.  Mr. Hart reviewed the Zoning Ordinance, particularly section 300.401 which 

describes the permitted uses in the Residential Agricultural Zoning District.   

 

Finding that only single-family residential homes are allowed in the district, he sent 

correspondence November 9, 2023 that the proposed use is not allowed, and they would need to 

seek a rezoning to use the property for anything other than single family residential. 

 

Pursuant to MCL 125.3604(1) and Section 300.1304 of the Zoning Ordinance, they are allowed 

to appeal Mr. Hart’s determination that the proposed use is not allowed in the RA zoning district 

to the ZBA.  The ZBA may affirm, reverse, or modify Mr. Hart’s decision.  A majority of the 

ZBA (3 of 5) is required to reverse the decision and must be in writing. 

 

SCOPE OF APPEAL 

 

The property is zoned Residential Agricultural.  Below is the intent of the district, as well as a 

partial list of permitted uses. 
 

Sec. 400. The Residential Agricultural (RA) District is intended to preserve, enhance and 

stabilize areas within the Township presently used for single-family homes and farming. It is 

the further intent of this district to protect the essential characteristics, agricultural uses, while 

promoting low-density residential uses. 

Permitted Uses 
C. Detached one-family dwelling. 

D. Home occupations. 

E. Accessory structures. 

F. Adult foster care family home or adult foster care small group home. 

G. Family Day care home. 

 

The applicants proposed use is to house up to ten unrelated adults on a temporary basis, not to 

exceed 180 days, and does not require an individual to be disabled.”  Mr. Hart also refers to my 

letter dated October 31, 2023 (attached).   

26

Item 3.



2 
 

 

In their appeal, the applicants argue that they qualify as an Adult foster care family home or adult 

foster care small group home.  In support of their position, they refer to the definitions found in 

our zoning ordinance, the relevant portions state: 

 

Sec. 2.02a. Adult foster care facilities: 

 

Adult foster care facility: A governmental or non-governmental establishment having as its 

principal function the receiving of adults for foster care. It includes facilities and foster care 

family homes for adults who are aged, emotionally disturbed, developmentally disabled or 

physically handicapped who require supervision on an ongoing basis but who do not require 

continuous nursing care. Adult foster care facility does not include a nursing home, a home for 

the aged, an alcohol or a substance abuse rehabilitation center, a hospital for the mentally ill or 

similar facilities. (emphasis added) 

 

Adult foster care small group home: An adult foster care facility with the approved capacity of 

not more than 12 adults who shall be provided foster care. 

 

The term Adult Foster Care Facility is taken nearly verbatim from the MCL 400.703(4) 

definition which states: 

 

4) “Adult foster care facility” means a home or facility that provides foster care to adults. 

Subject to section 26a(1),1 adult foster care facility includes facilities and foster care family 

homes for adults who are aged, mentally ill, developmentally disabled, or physically 

disabled who require supervision on an ongoing basis but who do not require continuous 

nursing care…” 

 

As you can see both definitions require care provided to aged, mentally ill, developmentally 

disabled, or physically disabled individual.  The proposed us of the property is strictly for 

temporarily homeless veterans.  

 

The fact that we adopted the same language used by the State in our zoning ordinance is not a 

coincidence.  All municipalities are required to.  MCL 125.3206 is a list of proposed uses that are 

preempted, or off-limits to township review (similar to cell towers, right of way fees, and just 

recently, certain solar panel facilities).  Specifically, MCL 125.3206(1)(B)b states in part: 

 

“Sec. 206. (1) Except as provided in subsection (2), each of the following is a residential use of 

property for the purposes of zoning and a permitted use in all residential zones and is not subject 

to a special use or conditional use permit or procedure different from those required for other 

dwellings of similar density in the same zone: 

 

(b) A facility in use as described in section 3(4)(k) of the adult foster care facility licensing 

act, 1979 PA 218, MCL 400.703. 

  

 

27

Item 3.

https://1.next.westlaw.com/Document/N7714A180260A11E98CBFBA4A9AF4D84F/View/FullText.html?transitionType=UniqueDocItem&contextData=(sc.Default)&userEnteredCitation=MCL+400.703#co_footnote_I46193A81200311E98969C73218E03E74


3 
 

Most importantly, a Foster Care Facility must be licensed by the State pursuant to MCL 400.713, 

which state in part: 

Sec. 13. (1) A person, partnership, corporation, association, or a department or agency of 

the state, county, city, or other political subdivision shall not establish or maintain an adult 

foster care facility unless licensed by the department. 

 

Adult foster care facilities all must be licensed by the State, that is how they qualify for special 

zoning preemption from local zoning ordinances.  The applicants have stated very clearly, they 

will not be a state licensed foster care facility, therefore they are not entitled to be a permitted use 

in the RA zoning district. 

 

DISCUSSION 

 

 

The applicants state that providing a facility to help homeless veterans is a beneficial endeavor, 

and they have pointed out that the property and structure are a good fit for the requirements of 

the grant.  They have explained that there will be staff, including security present, and occupancy 

will be limited to 10 veterans at a time, so the potential impact on surrounding properties will be 

minimal. 

 

That has not always been the case at this site. In 2001 the township had to seek an injunction to 

prevent the owners of the property from operating a computer software business.  More recently, 

the previous owner, in addition to living in the home with his family, applied for a medical 

marijuana permit and had grown marijuana outside in violation of the medical marijuana statute.  

Although the applicants have alleged a bed and breakfast was operated there, the township has 

never rezoned the property for RA, and has consistently identified it as RA on assessing 

documents.  The property was listed for sale as residential property, and the purchasers lack of 

understanding the township and state definition of foster care group home is what’s causing this 

problem.   

 

The applicant’s argument that federal law preempts the zoning ordinance is misplaced.  Whether 

or not there should be preemption at the federal level for homeless veteran housing is certainly 

worthy of discussion at the federal and state level by the appropriate legislative body, but it has 

not occurred yet.  If fact, one of the requirements to qualify for the grant was a statement by the 

VA grant review staff that states “In addition to meeting your local authority having jurisdiction’s 

codes and standards (sic)…” 4-11-23 email to Debra Hayes) This includes zoning and building 

codes.  

 

As to the allegation of discrimination, exactly the opposite is occurring here.  The zoning 

ordinance does not discriminate between worthy causes or owners.  It merely seeks to separate 

disparate uses of land to promote harmony.  Traditionally zoning ordinances zone single family 

housing separate from multi family uses (apartments), commercial from industrial, etc.  The 

motivation, race, sex, religion, of an owner is irrelevant.   

 

28

Item 3.



4 
 

Finally, if the determination by Mr. Hart is upheld, the applicants can avail themselves to other 

administrative options in the zoning ordinance, including rezoning the parcel, proposing an 

amendment to the text of the ordinance, or consider a conditional rezoning. 

 

 

Respectfully Submitted, 

 

David Lattie 

January 17, 2024 

 

 

29

Item 3.



DAVID L. LATTIE 

Attorney at Law 

8332 Office Park Drive, Suite B 

Grand Blanc, MI 48439 

Telephone: (810) 603-1000            Email Dlattie@lattielaw.com 

 

 

October 31, 2023 

 

Debra Hayes 

Executive Director 

My Brothers Keeper of Genesee County Inc. 

Debrahayes1.mbk@gmail.com 

 

Re:11280 Hegel Road 

 

Ms. Hayes, 

 

By way of introduction, my name is David Lattie, and I am the Atlas Township attorney.  I am 

writing regarding the proposed use of 11280 Hegel Road.  I understand that My Brothers Keeper 

of Genesee County has purchased the above property and may be intending to use the property in 

a manner inconsistent with the permitted uses in the Residential Agricultural zoning district in 

Atlas Township.  Specifically, I understand the proposed use is a “veterans group home”, which 

provides housing for an unspecified number of unrelated veterans.   

 

As I mentioned, the property is in the Residential Agricultural zoning district, which allows a 

detached one-family detached dwelling, adult foster care family homesand adult foster care small 

group home.  The Atlas Township Zoning Ordinance can be viewed at : 

https://library.municode.com/mi/atlas_township,_(genesee_co.)/codes/zoning?nodeId=PT300. 

If you refer to section 300.201 of the ordinance, you will see that your proposed use does not 

meet the definition of any of the permitted uses. (As an aside, foster care homes are specifically 

defined by state statute, and licensed by the State of Michigan)   

 

If I have misstated the proposed use, or there is some legal basis preempting compliance with our 

zoning ordinance, please advise me immediately.  Alternatively, if you intend to request a re-

zoning of the property, or seek conditional land use, please advise. 

 

I have copied the Building Code official and Township Supervisor on this correspondence, and 

the verification of a use consistent with the zoning ordinance will be required before a certificate 

of occupancy may be issued. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

David Lattie 

30

Item 3.

mailto:Dlattie@lattielaw.com
mailto:Debrahayes1.mbk@gmail.com
https://library.municode.com/mi/atlas_township,_(genesee_co.)/codes/zoning?nodeId=PT300

	Top
	Item 1.	Approve December 20, 2023 Zoning Board of Appeals Meeting Minutes.
	dec 20 23 draft minutes

	Item 3.	ZBA #24-01, 11280 Hegel Rd. (02-23-200-018) My Brother's Keeper of Genesee County Appeal Building Inspectors Letters.
	zba 24-01
	hegel road ZBA appeal
	MBK atlas corresp from DLattie

	Bottom

